**IN THE SUPREME COURT FLORIDA**

ORIGINAL

ANDRZEJ MADURA,  
Petitioner

CASE No.: SC 06-999  
L. T. No.: 2D- 06-915

vs.

FULL SPECTRUM LENDING, INC., and  
COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC.

Respondent

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

In this brief, the a petitioner Andrzej Madura, will be referred to as the petitioner. The respondent will be referred to as the respondents or Countrywide or Spectrum. Citations to the Appendix will be made by the letter A and appropriate document.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE**

This is an action alleging rescission, violation of TILA and usury action pertaining to a loan. Petitioner and her husband are borrowers. In beginning of July 2000 the respondent, FULL SPECTRUM LENDING INC. (SPECTRUM) sent a loan applications borrowers. SPECTRUM was a subsidiary of Countrywide Home Loans Inc. (COUNTRYWIDE) . On or about July 10, 2000, both borrowers received a package of the loan documents including the arbitration agreements. Petitioner and his wife, at that time, signed, mailed, and faxed their applications and other documents to SPECTRUM. On July 26, 2000, SPECTRUM closed the loan with the borrowers in the principal amount of \$ 87,750 that was secured by a mortgage on the borrowers' principal residence. Petitioner as well as his wife were liable for a loan pursuant to mortgage -see last page of the mortgage (A-1), the Adjustable Rate Note (A-2) and to par. (A)(4)(D)(E) and B of the Adjustable Rate Rider(A-3). Respondents guaranteed in the Par.5 of the Adjustable Rate Note(A-2) and by the provisions of the TILA document (A-4) that the borrowers could pay off the loan in full at any time without penalty. It should be noted that the arbitration agreements define the "credit transaction as the obligation or *proposed* obligation "

and govern loan documents signed at the closing e.g. the documents reviewed by the borrowers and to which borrowers assented (A-5). Further, these arbitration agreements provide, in their first sentence, that there are constructed :

“In consideration of the Lender’s extension of credit, and other good and valuable consideration, *the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by both parties.*” In the instant case, the borrowers acknowledged the contract signed at closing, not the contract which they never reviewed, assented or signed. At the July 26, 2000 closing, the petitioner signed again the same arbitration agreement pertaining to proposed him loan documents but not pertaining to loan documents produced by the respondents later and signed with borrowers names by respondents

On or about the day after closing, the respondents’ agents or employees, without a notice to the plaintiffs, destroyed or concealed the original marked “final ” TILA document (A-4) and the Promissory Note (A-2), signed by borrowers at closing, and, subsequently, and without notice to borrowers, prepared a new forged Promissory Note ( A-6) and the TILA document (A-7) and signed it with the petitioner’s and his wife’s names and initials. Please note that all loan documents show that they were prepared by the Spectrum’s Loan Officer, K. Phillips, and that forged TILA document was marked “final” as the other TILA document signed by borrowers at closing (A-5). Respondents never provided to the borrowers for review and for signing these “ loan documents ” which contained loan conditions never agreed to by the plaintiffs and which contained the forged by respondents or



their officers signatures of the borrowers. Instead, the respondents, on the day following closing , these “ documents”, bearing the forged signatures of the borrowers, uttered in the record of their Title Insurance Comp. in Tampa (A-8).

Respondents never sent to borrowers the forged TILA disclosure (A-7) nor the correct Notice to Cancel, as mandated by 15USC1635, all contrary to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. 1640. Instead, on April 21, 2001, they sent a Pay off Demand Note, where wherein they added to the existing balance an amount of \$ 5,036.84, as a “prepayment penalty” which never existed in the loan signed at the closing.

This demand of the total due in the amount of \$ 93,732.44 is at the interest rate of about 26% per year(A-9) and was repeated in May 2001(A-9). Despite numerous inquiries about the TILA document and the Promissory Note, the respondents refused to provide a copy of this patently altered and forged TILA document but on May 10, 2001, they faxed the altered copy of the Promissory Note which included, on pg .2, the forged petitioner’s initials ( A-10). After receiving this promissory note containing the loan conditions to which borrowers never agreed and the forged initials, the borrowers, on May 23, 2001, sent by Certified Mail a demand for the investigation of forgery. Further, because the respondents did not disclose the forged TILA Document (marked final) and never sent the correct new Notice to Cancel, as mandated by 15USC 1635, petitioner *demanding immediate rescission* of the agreement *to which her never assented*, as was his right under the Act (A-11).

Respondents have refused to honor rescission demand, in violation of 15 USC

1635, and on July 17 and July 27, 2001, through their Vice- President Jay Laifman , stated: “all disclosures have been made and all appropriate documents were signed” and that: “signatures of the Plaintiffs do not clearly appear to be forgeries”. see two letters(A -12) . However, the respondents failed again to provide the borrowers with requested forged and altered TILA document and forged Promissory Note.

Petitioner and his wife started their own investigation and, in the beginning of November 2001, found in the record of the Title Company in Tampa, a copy of the forged TILA document and the Promissory Note, both containing new loan conditions, never assented to by the borrowers at closing. This TILA document not only contained the conditions to which the plaintiffs never agreed to but also included the forged dated signatures of both borrowers (A-7). In addition, a copy of the Promissory Note received from the Title Agency contained on page 2 the forged initial of the petitioner (A-6). Petitioner retained the Forensic Document Expert, Mr. Vastrick, who, in his November 25, 2001 Report, ascertained that both dated signatures on the TILA document are not genuine signatures of the borrowers but forgeries. In addition, he ascertained that the initial entries on page 2 of the Promissory Note were not made by the petitioner (A-13). On March 8, 2002 and on April 29, 2002, the borrowers, through their attorney, sent to respondents two letters containing a copy of this Forensic Report (A-14). Petitioner in these letters, again demanded a copy of the forged TILA document and information on what action has been taken by the respondents concerning the forged borrowers’

signatures on the loan documents. Respondents did not respond and never disclosed the altered and forged TILA requested by the petitioner.

### **Procedural Progress of the Case**

Petitioner, in addition to his case, submitted below a part of his wife's case as he believes that this Honorable Court will benefit from this recitation because the petitioners' original complaint was filed jointly with his wife.

On May 1, 2002, within five months after borrowers were aware that the TILA was forged and eleven months after they were suspecting forgery and alteration of the Promissory Note, they, to vindicate their rights to enforce, requested on May 23, 2001 a rescission, filed a complaint. Borrowers claimed the respondents' failure to disclose the forged loan condition and raised allegations of forgery of the TILA and its concealment by respondent as well as forgery of the Promissory Note. See pgs 9-13 of original complaint (A-15). Borrowers claimed also criminal usury, conspiracy, and uttery of forged documents. The trial Court, compelled petitioner to arbitrate the said claims. The trial court supported its order compelling forgery to arbitration by *Prudential Sec. Ins. v. Katz*, 80 So.2d 173 (Fla.3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2002) which is distinguishable from the circumstances of the instant case. In *Prudential*, the plaintiffs disputed an employment contract and there is nothing about the forgery. See page 3 of the August 5, 2002 Circuit Court's Order (A-16).

Borrowers appealed to 2<sup>nd</sup> District Court of Appeals. On June 17, 2003 the 2<sup>nd</sup> District issued mandate following its *per curiam* decision affirming the trial

court's order compelling petitioner's claims to arbitration. On July 15, 2003, Mrs. Madura amended her complaint with additional TILA and fraud allegations. Her amendment arose out of the same transaction, conduct, and occurrence alleged in original complaint (A-17)( Exhibits are omitted as they are included in Appendix ). Respondents, after uttering the TILA document and the Promissory Note in their Title Agency, *uttered them knowing that they were forged and altered*, with the U.S. Supreme Court (case 03-6293), in their brief in opposition to the borrowers' petition for writ of certiorari of the 2<sup>nd</sup> District Order *percuriam* affirmation (A-18).

On January 20, 2004, at the evidentiary hearing, in order to vindicate right for rescission asserted in the May 23, 2001 letter (A-11), was admitted into evidence the testimony of the Forensic Document Examiner and his Nov. 25, 2001 Forensic Report about forgery of the TILA document and the Promissory Note, without any respondents' objections (A-19). At the April 20, 2004 Summary Judgment hearing, the trial judge acknowledged the existence of genuine issues of material facts and held that will rule within ten (10) days. See pgs. 49-50 and 58 of the excerpt of the proceeding (A-20). However, the Judge granted fifteen (15) months after hearing respondents' summary judgment motion and denied Mrs. Madura's motion for summary judgment on the issue of the respondents' liability for forgery, while the court's records as well as its Order were overwhelming with existence of a genuine issue of material facts, forgery and fraud (A-21). The trial Court found that the record shows that borrowers were aware, since November 2001, about forgery of

TILA document and that they timely filed original complaint in which they raised forgery, usury and conspiracy. The trial court held that : “ in the May 2002 Complaint the borrowers raise allegation of forgery ” ( TILA document and the Promissory Note) but this is not a claim of violation of the federal statute and therefore, as of May 2002, respondents were not yet on notice of a TILA claim. Next, the trial Court held that “ allegation of federal statutory violations cannot properly relate back; they are beyond the time limit and are barred by the one-year statute of limitation , citing *Ecenrode v Household Finance*, 422 F. Supp. 1327 (D. Del.1976) (despite the fact that the amended complaint arose out of the same conduct, transaction and occurrence as in original complaint). (See pg, 3 of A-21).

On Dec.23, 2004, the petitioner, through attorney, reiterated his demand for rescission, as is authorized by TILA Act (A-22). Respondents have refused again to honor or acknowledge this 2<sup>nd</sup> Notice of Rescission, in violation of the TILA Act.

On June 17, 2005 the petitioner, through his attorney, moved to amend complaint to add claims for rescission and for avoidance of the loan transaction.(A-23). On Aug. 16, 2005 the petitioner filed response (A-25) to the respondents' opposition (A-24). On Jan.17, 2006 the new assigned Judge allowed withdraw of petitioner's counsel (A-26). On Jan.25, 2006 the petitioner asked the successor Judge, for a hearing on motion for leave upon experienced hardship to confirm a date for hearing with the opposite attorney(A-27). On Jan. 30, 2006 the respondents faxed to the Judge their July 22, 2005 opposition (A-24). On February 1, 2006 the successor Judge

denied the petitioner's motion without a hearing and prohibited the petitioner of filing a motion for rehearing.(A-28) On March 3 , 2006, the petitioner filed his petition for writ of certiorari with the Second District Court Appeal ( A-29 ) .

On March 16, 2006 the 2<sup>nd</sup> District dismissed petition without opinion (A-30 ).

On March 24, 2006, in response to the respondent's motion to dismiss certiorari based on erroneous perception of the timelessness of petitioner's petition the petitioner, filed, through his attorney, a motion for reconsideration of the said Order (A-31).

On March 23, 2006 the 2<sup>nd</sup> District dismissed petitioner's petition for certiorari for lack of jurisdiction(A-32). On March 30, 2004 the petitioner filed, through attorney, amended motion for reconsideration (A-33), in which submitted that, pursuant to Rule 9.040(c) Fla. R. App., certiorari should be treated as a notice of appeal as he will have no remedy on plenary appeal. See page 5 of petition for certiorari(A-29).

On April 13, 2006, the 2<sup>nd</sup> District denied amended motion for rehearing and held that the petitioner's motion for leave to file amended complaint is not reviewable by certiorari on the narrow basis that was bound by its decision in *Harry Pepper & Assoc., Inc v. City of Cape Coral*. 369 So.2d 969 (Fla.2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1979). (A-34 ).

On May 12, 2006, the petitioner filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review this 2<sup>nd</sup> District Court's decision. On June 19 2006 the petitioner filed jurisdictional brief in which submitted that the cited by the 2<sup>nd</sup> District *Harry Pepper* conflicts with *Hall v. Wojciechowski* and other district Court's Orders. On February 27, 2007, this Court accepted jurisdiction .

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The 2<sup>nd</sup> District Court of Appeal erred in jurisdictional analysis to determine whether the trial court's order denying the petitioner motion for leave to file his first amended complaint could be corrected in plenary appeal. The Court supported its decision of dismissing petition for certiorari with its ruling in case *Harry Pepper & Assoc. Inc. v. City of Cape Coral*, 369 So.2d 969 ( Fla.2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1979) which is distinguishable from the circumstances of the instant case. The 2<sup>nd</sup> District, by this ruling created a new law that all petitions for writ of certiorari from the trial courts' Orders, denying motions for leave to file amended complaint, must be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Such law, would deprive numerous litigants of their rights to amend their complaints in case when their previous other claims were compelled to arbitration, and they would not have remedy on plenary appeal. Such law conflicts with several District Court's and with several 2<sup>nd</sup> District Court's decisions and with Rule 1.190 of Fla. R. C.P which states that leave to file amendment shall be given freely when justice so requires In summary, the 2<sup>nd</sup> District's decision will create harmful precedent in this state if it is upheld and should be quashed .

II. Present case is of significant public importance while the TILA Act covers all credit transactions which represent a portion of national economy; consumer credit for 2006 alone was **\$ 3,26 trillion**.

III. The trial court departed from the essential requirements of law when it denied without hearing petitioner's motion to file his first amended complaint. Petitioner

request that this Court, in accepting jurisdiction over the 2<sup>nd</sup> district order dismissing certiorari, also resolve the substantial issue presented to the 2<sup>nd</sup> District below--- whether the successor judge departed from the essential requirements of law when he denied (without a hearing) the petitioner's motion for leave to file *first* amended complaint. The trial Court made no specific finding that the respondents would be prejudiced by petitioner exercising his privilege by amending the complaint or that amendment would be futile. Such amended complaint should not be denied and also would not be futile to state cause of action. *Soucy v. Caspar*, 658 So.2d 1017 (Fla.4<sup>th</sup>DCA 1995). The trial court's decision conflicts with numerous Fla. Districts decisions and also with the 4<sup>th</sup> District decision in *Blakeslee v. Morse Operaion Inc.* 720 So.2dd 1166( Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998). In *Blakeslee*, the 4<sup>th</sup> District explicitly ruled that a plaintiff was entitled to amend complaint for purpose of avoiding arbitration.

Further, to the extent the fact that the amended complaint would be not futile to state cause of action, the United States Supreme Court, (Justice Scaldia) recently, in *Buckeyye Check Cashing Inc. v. Cardegna*, 126 S. Ct 1204 (2006) (*footnote at 1208*) and Justice Cantero, dissenting in this Court's *Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc.*, 894 So.2d 860 (Fla. 2005)(*at 870-875*) limited the severity of the *Prima Paint Corp., v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395., 87 S.Ct. 1801, 18 L.Ed. 2d 1; *Southland Corp. v. Keating*, 465 U.S. 1, 104 S.Ct. 852, 79 L.Ed.2d 1 and others holdings in which circumstances are distinguishable from this case 's circumstances. Both Justices expressly held that if a plaintiff claims are that he was



deprived of review of the altered and forged contract or when he did not assent to it and sign it, or that he was induced to sign the arbitration agreement pertaining to this never formed contract, his claims could not be compelled to the arbitration. Petitioner never personally signed the customer agreements at issue, and thus he contended that he was not bound by the arbitration provisions within them.

The arbitration agreements show on their face that they merely govern *the loan proposed by the respondents* and they do not govern forged and concealed loan .

Therefore, petitioner amended the complaint including claims of rescission of the contract: (1) which was signed by respondents with the borrowers' names without the borrowers' knowledge; (2) which was not provided to the petitioner for its review; (3) to which the petitioner never assented and never signed it, *may not be compelled to the arbitration*. If no contract was formed, then the arbitration agreement, which was a part of that contract, was not formed, either. The borrowers signatures were forged and no contract came to being. If a party did not sign the underlying contract then the party may not have agreed to arbitration. Petitioner whose names were forged *has never agreed to anything*. Likewise, with a person whose name was written on a contract by a faithless agent who lacked the authority to make a commitment. The Court, no the arbitrator must determine this treshold issue.

In summary, petitioner's amended complaint is not futile and the trial court order will create harmful precedent in this state if it is upheld and should be reversed.

I. THE 2<sup>nd</sup> DISTRICT ERRONEOUS DECISION OF DISMISSAL CERTIORARI FOR LACK JURISDICTION WILL CREATE HARMFUL PRECEDENCE IN THIS STATE AND SHOULD BE QUASHED

The 2<sup>nd</sup> District Court of Appeal did not make the jurisdictional analysis to determine whether the trial court's denying the petitioner first attempt to file amended complaint order could be corrected in plenary appeal . The 2<sup>nd</sup> District supported its decision dismissing petitioner's petition for certiorari with its own *Harry Pepper & Assoc. Inc. v. City of Cape Coral*, 369 So.2d 969 ( Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1979) case , which is distinguishable from the circumstances of the instant case. In *Harry Pepper*, the plaintiff had remedy on plenary appeal but the petitioner, in the instant case would have no remedy on plenary appeal because his original claims were compelled to arbitration. The 2<sup>nd</sup> District overlooked the fact that the petitioner's remedy by appeal *would be inadequate* because Fla. Statute provides that the trial court may only confirm or vacate arbitration panel's award ( s. 682.12 ) or vacate when an award was produced by corruption, fraud or is evidence of the partiality by an arbitrator or the arbitrators exceeded their powers or refused to hear evidence. 682.13(a-d) . S. 682.20 provides that an appeal may be taken only from:

(a) An order denying an application made under s.682.03; (2) An order granting an application to stay arbitration made under s. 682.03(2-14); (c) An order confirming or denying confirmation of an award; (d) An order modifying or correcting an award ; (e) An order vacating an award without directing a rehearing and: (f) A judgment or decree entered pursuant to the provisions of this law. See

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