IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDRZEJ MADURA,

Petitioner,

vs. Case Number: SC06-999
L.T. Case Number: 2D06-915

FULL SPECTRUM LENDING, INC. and COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC.,

Respond	dents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William P. Heller Florida Bar No. 987263 E-mail: william.heller@akerman.com Kimberly A. Leary Florida Bar No. 596051

Email: kimberly.leary@akerman.com

AKERMAN SENTERFITT

Las Olas Centre II, Suite 1600 350 East Las Olas Boulevard Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Phone No. 954-759-8945 Fax No. 954-463-2224

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The only issue before this Court under <u>alleged</u> express and direct conflict jurisdiction is whether the district court's unpublished Order – which does not constitute precedent – properly denied Petitioner's motions seeking reconsideration of the district court's earlier order dismissing Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari. In support of its Order denying reconsideration, the district court cited *Harry Pepper*. Petitioner argues that the district court's order directly and expressly conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Hall*.

However, no express conflict exists, and this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

The Second District's order is nothing more than an unpublished, routine, one-paragraph order containing no discussion of the facts of the instant case or any application of law to the relevant facts. Such orders are not precedent. This Court's express and direct conflict jurisdiction is for purposes of avoiding confusion and maintaining uniformity in the precedent setting case law of this State. Thus, because the Order does not constitute precedent, this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

Additionally, the facts pertinent to the decision in *Hall* are completely different from the facts at issue here. Thus, the unpublished Order does not expressly and directly conflict with the Fourth District's holding – on its face or otherwise – as required by Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Accordingly, even though this Court has preliminarily accepted jurisdiction to review the purported "conflict" raised by the Petitioner, this Court should nevertheless decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this appeal.

In the alternative, if this Court finds that a sufficient conflict does exist, the Court should affirm the Second District's unpublished Order. Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari sought review of an interlocutory order that denied his motion

for leave to amend his complaint. Based on the district court's reference to *Harry Pepper*, it is clear that the district court determined that, under the facts of this case, it did not have jurisdiction because Petitioner would have an adequate remedy to address any claimed error in the trial court's order by way of direct appeal following final judgment.

In his petition for writ of certiorari, Petitioner did not meet the well-established three-pronged test for determining when certiorari jurisdiction is appropriate. First, as the district court concluded, Petitioner has an adequate remedy for any claimed error by appealing from a final judgment following arbitration of this dispute. Second, Petitioner failed to allege any sufficient irreparable harm to merit certiorari review. And third, the trial court's order did not depart from the essential elements of the law. Therefore, this Court should conclude that the district court correctly dismissed Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari and properly denied his motions for reconsideration.

ARGUMENT

I. NO EXPRESS CONFLICT EXISTS TO SUPPORT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

Standard of Review.

Under the Florida Constitution and the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts of appeal that "expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another

district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) (emphasis added); Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The basis for conflict must appear within the four corners of the district court's decision. *Beaty v. State*, 701 So. 2d 856, 857 (Fla. 1997).

Argument.

Petitioner contends that the Second District's unpublished Order "expressly and directly conflicts" with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Hall*. Although this Court initially granted jurisdiction, the Court should now dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction because the Second District's order does not expressly and directly conflict with any decision of another district court of appeal or of this Court.

At the Second District, Petitioner sought certiorari review of a trial court's order denying him leave to amend his complaint after being ordered to arbitrate the claims alleged in his original complaint. (A11.) The Second District dismissed the petition for lack of jurisdiction, and Petitioner sought reconsideration. (A12-15.) In denying Petitioner's motions for reconsideration, the Second District issued a routine, unpublished, one-paragraph Order explaining that the trial court's order was "not reviewable by certiorari," citing *Harry Pepper*. (A16.)

The primary purpose of the Florida Constitution's grant of discretionary jurisdiction to this Court to review direct and express conflicts of appellate

decisions is to avoid confusion by maintaining uniformity in this State's precedentsetting case law. Wainwright v. Taylor, 476 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1985). The unpublished Order at issue is not a "decision" as contemplated in Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. It is a routine, unpublished order – not even published with a table citation. Such an order does not constitute precedent. See, e.g., Ullah v. State, 679 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (publishing previously unpublished order so that holding will set precedent).

Moreover, the only authority to which the Order cites, *Harry Pepper*, is not pending review in this Court; nor has that decision been reversed by this Court. Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981) (supreme court may take jurisdiction of per curiam opinions, which do not constitute precedent, only if such opinions cite as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by the supreme court).²

Additionally, even if the unpublished Order at issue did constitute precedent, neither that Order nor the Harry Pepper decision expressly and directly conflict with the decision in Hall. Under express and direct conflict jurisdiction, the conflict must be apparent from the four corners of the decision under review.

² Although this Court has, on very rare occasion, accepted jurisdiction to review an unpublished order of a district court, it has done so in instances where the unpublished order specifically certified conflict with another case pending review in this Court. See, e.g., Dep't of Law Enforcement v. House, 678 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1996).

Beaty v. State, 701 So. 2d at 857. The Second District's order at issue contains no description of the proceedings or of the facts before the trial court below. Similarly, the *Harry Pepper* decision contained no description of the facts causing the trial court to deny the motion for leave to amend, and no discussion of the law as applied to the particular petitioners in that case or the relevant facts. For that reason alone, jurisdiction should be denied because no express and direct conflict between the instant, unpublished Order, and the *Hall* decision is evident from the four corners of the Order.

Further, even if the facts in the instant case were set forth in the order at issue, the factual scenario reviewed by the Fourth District in *Hall* was obviously very different from the factual scenario reviewed by the Second District in this case. In *Hall*, the Fourth District issued a writ of certiorari and quashed a trial court's order denying plaintiffs' motion for leave to amend their pleadings. Plaintiffs' counsel had inadvertently omitted a prayer for damages that had previously been included and explored in discovery. *Hall*, 312 So. 2d at 204. The error was discovered at the pretrial conference, at which point Plaintiffs' counsel immediately moved to amend the complaint. *See id*. Thus, Petitioner's motion for leave to amend was motivated by discovery of an inadvertent omission. Under those specific circumstances, the Fourth District found that denying leave to amend

was an abuse of discretion that could not be adequately corrected by plenary review. *Id*.

The facts in this case could not be more dissimilar. Here, based on claims in his original complaint, Petitioner had been previously ordered to arbitration. In the arbitration order, the trial court specifically found all of Petitioner's claims were encompassed by the arbitration agreement and could not be "litigated judicially." (A3.) After appealing the trial court's arbitration order all the way to the United States Supreme Court without any success along the way, Petitioner filed his motion for leave to amend his complaint at the trial court. (A8.)

Respondents opposed Petitioner's motion for leave to amend on grounds that, because the proposed amended complaint Petitioner sought to file alleged the same ultimate facts, the claims raised in the proposed complaint would also be subject to arbitration. (A9.) Respondents argued that Petitioner's attempt to amend his complaint three years after-the-fact would be "futile" and was merely an attempt to circumvent the trial court's arbitration order. Thus, as opposed to *Hall*'s motion, which was driven by an inadvertent omission, Petitioner's motion to amend in this case was driven by an intent to avoid compliance with a standing court order and a specific finding had been made by the trial court that the amendment was unjustified, futile, and designed to circumvent the court's arbitration order.

Additionally, as found by the Second District, Petitioner certainly had an alternative and adequate remedy: He could have simply complied with the trial court's arbitration order. In the more informal context of arbitration, Petitioner could likely have raised all claims and arguments, including those contemplated in his proposed amended complaint. If a decision was entered adverse to Petitioner at arbitration, and if the arbitrator's decision was confirmed by the trial court, Petitioner would then have the right to appeal any appropriate issues, including an appeal of the trial court's order denying leave to amend – which, again, would have been futile given the trial court's specific finding that the proposed amended complaint's claims were also subject to arbitration. If the appellate court then found that denying leave to amend was error, the case could be remanded to the trial court with instructions to allow amendment of the complaint and to hold new proceedings in the case. Such procedure has long been recognized as appropriate for the purpose of avoiding piece-meal appeals. See Jaye v. Royal Saxon, Inc., 720 So. 2d 214, 215 (Fla. 1998) (certiorari review, by design, is extremely limited because allowing piecemeal review of nonfinal trial court orders would impede the orderly administration of justice and serve only to delay and harass).

Therefore, in the absence of an expressly and directly conflicting decision involving an analogous factual scenario, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction of the unpublished Order. Accordingly, Respondents

respectfully urge this Court to decide that, based on the record and the orders issued in this case, discretionary jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO EXERCISE CERTIORARI JURISDICTION.

Standard of Review.

As discussed in more detail hereinafter, the standard of review of a district court's decision denying a petition for writ of certiorari is whether the district court abused its discretion in applying the three-prong test that must be met to grant a writ of certiorari. *State v. Steele*, 921 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 2005).

Argument.

District Courts of Appeal have discretion to issue writs of certiorari to review nonfinal orders of lower tribunals other than those appealable as a matter of right under Rule 9.130, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See* Art. V, section 4(b)(3), Florida Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(b)(2)(A). Rule 9.130(a)(3) describes certain nonfinal orders that are specifically subject to appeal at the district courts. The petition at issue here asked the Second District to accept certiorari review of a nonfinal order not falling within those categories specifically enumerated in Rule 9.130.

Certiorari review by district courts of circuit court interlocutory orders is "an extraordinary remedy and should not be used to circumvent [Rule 9.130] which authorizes appeal from only a few types of non-final orders." *Martin-Johnson, Inc.*

v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. 1987). As a result, certiorari review should be used only in limited circumstances "based on the notion that piecemeal review of nonfinal trial court orders will impede the orderly administration of justice and serve only to delay and harass." Jaye, 720 So. 2d at 215; see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.130 (Committee Notes, 1977 Amendment) (anticipating that because the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under Rule 9.130, resort to common law certiorari to correct erroneous interlocutory rulings would be "extremely rare"). All other appellate review should be postponed until a final judgment is entered by the trial court. Martin-Johnson, Inc., 509 So. 2d at 1098.

This Court has thus recognized that "district courts must be allowed a large degree of discretion so that they may judge each case individually" and that district courts should exercise certiorari discretion "only when there has been a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice." *Combs v. State*, 436 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 1983). To permit interlocutory review in inappropriate instances "would result in unwarranted harm to our system of procedure" and "appellate courts would be inundated by petitions." *Martin-Johnson*, 509 So. 2d at 1100.

As such, this Court has articulated a three-pronged test for district courts to apply when determining whether certiorari review is appropriate. *See Kilgore v. Bird*, 6 So. 2d 541, 544 (Fla. 1942); *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Fla., Inc.*, 889

So. 2d 812, 822 (Fla. 2004) (finding that the writ of certiorari test is "well settled"). Specifically, a petitioner must establish that all three of the following conditions exist before certiorari should be granted: (1) the trial court's order must constitute a departure from the essential requirements of law; (2) the order must cause material injury throughout subsequent proceedings; and (3) the injury must be one for which there will be no adequate remedy after final judgment. *Reeves*, 889 So. 2d at 822; *see also Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91, 94 (Fla. 1995); *Martin-Johnson, Inc.*, 509 So. 2d at 1099.

In *Parkway Bank v. Fort Myers Armature Works, Inc.*, the Second District Court of Appeal addressed the "confusing distinction between a dismissal of a certiorari petition for lack of jurisdiction and a denial of a petition after a review of the nonfinal order on its merits." ³ 658 So. 2d 646, 648 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). It is important to note that the petition for writ of certiorari at issue, here, was <u>dismissed</u> for lack of jurisdiction – not denied after a review of the merits. The *Parkway Bank* decision explained:

[I]t is still necessary for an appellate court to conduct a jurisdictional analysis prior to testing whether the nonfinal order passes the standard of review on its merits, i.e., whether the order is a "departure from the essential requirements of law." Thus, . . . a petitioner must establish that an interlocutory order creates material harm irreparable by postjudgment appeal before this court has power to determine whether

_

³ It is also worth noting that the opinion explaining this important distinction in *Parkway Bank* was authored by Judge Altenbernd, who also sat on the panel that dismissed Petitioner's petition.

the order departs from the essential requirements of the law. If the jurisdictional prongs of the standard three-part test are not fulfilled, then the petition should be dismissed rather than denied.

658 So. 2d at 649; see also Bared & Co., Inc. v. McGuire, 670 So. 2d 153, 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Judge Altenbernd's well-reasoned decision in *Parkway Bank* and the unpublished Order at issue are both wholly consistent with this Court's decision in *Topps v. State*, 865 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2004). In *Topps*, this Court concluded that, when an extraordinary writ proceeding – such as the petition for writ of certiorari at issue here – is dismissed and not considered on its merits, the dismissal does not extinguish the petitioner's right to have the merits adjudicated at a later time.

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